THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SALUDA COUNTY  
In The Circuit Court

The Honorable Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge  
The Honorable Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

C.A. No.: 2019-001279

Amy Potts.....Respondent.

v.

McCarty Enterprises, LLC, John Miles McCarty, Audrey S. McCarty, a/k/a Audrey J.  
McCarty and Jane Doe .....Appellants.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Candy M. Kern-Fuller (S.C. Bar No. 11392)  
**Upstate Law Group, LLC**  
POB 238  
Anderson, SC 29622  
864-226-8938  
Candy@UpstateLawGroup.com

January 2, 2020

**ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS**

**RECEIVED**  
JAN 09 2020  
SC Court of Appeals

##

**I. ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- A. DID THE COURT ERR IN FINDING DEFENDANTS IN DEFAULT AND STRIKING THEIR ANSWER BECAUSE THE COURT PROCEEDED TO HEAR THE MOTION TO DISMISS AND THEN DENIED THE SAME PURPORTEDLY ON ITS MERITS, RATHER THAN MOOTING IT OR DISMISSING IT FOR FAILING TO BE FILED ON TIME, WHICH WOULD HAVE AFFORDED APPELLANTS AN ADDITIONAL FIFTEEN (15) DAYS TO ANSWER?
- B. DID THE COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S AMENDED MOTION TO DISMISS?
- C. DID THE COURT ERR IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO STRIKE DEFENDANTS' ANSWER AND IN ENTERING DEFAULT IN PLAINTIFF'S FAVOR DESPITE THE FACT THAT MAILING WAS COMPLETE UPON DEPOSIT AT THE POST OFFICE AND THE POSTAL WORKER'S AFFIDAVIT CORRECTING THE COURT'S ERRONEOUS CONCLUSION REGARDING THE GREENVILLE POSTMARK BEING DISPOSITIVE?
- D. DID THE COURT ERR IN QUALIFYING MARY FEASTER AS AN "EXPERT" IN "COUNSELING [AS IT] IS RELATED TO GRIEF AND LOSS[,] BOTH AS IT RELATES TO GRIEF AND LOSS RELATED TO PETS AND AS TO OTHER COUNSELING" WHEN SHE WAS ONLY A GENERICALLY LICENSED PROFESSIONAL COUNSELOR (LPC), WHO COULDN'T RECALL WHEN SHE WAS ACTUALLY FIRST LICENSED (1989 OR A DECADE LATER IN 1999 AS SC LLR RECORDS SHOWED), COULD NOT EVEN RECALL THE DATES SHE WORKED IN PSYCHIATRIC CARE AT PALMETTO BAPTIST HOSPITAL/PRISMA, WHOSE MASTER'S DEGREE WAS IN EDUCATION AND REHABILITATION COUNSELING, WAS NOT RESPONDENT'S TREATING COUNSELOR, ONLY FIRST MET RESPONDENT A FEW WEEKS BEFORE THE DAMAGES HEARING, ONLY REVIEWED RESPONDENT'S COUNSELING NOTES FOR THE PERIOD OF TIME AFTER THE INCIDENT (FROM 2015-2017), HAD MEETINGS WITH RESPONDENT FOR THE PURPOSE OF HER "EXPERT" OPINION, AND HEARD RESPONDENT'S TESTIMONY AT THE DEFAULT DAMAGES HEARING - ALL WHILE FEASTER WAS SO ILL/DISABLED SHE COULDN'T EVEN CONDUCT HER REGULAR, (UNPAID/VOLUNTEER) ONCE A WEEK, HOUR AND A HALF GROUP COUNSELING SESSIONS FOR FOUR MONTHS PRIOR TO HER TESTIMONY AND IN LIGHT OF THE FACT THAT FEASTER HAD NO CV, NO PUBLISHED PEER REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS (BOOKS OR ARTICLES), AND NO OTHER SPECIFIC EDUCATION OR CERTIFICATIONS IN THE AREA OF GRIEF OR LOSS (ESPECIALLY PET GRIEF OR LOSS) AND THEN CONSIDERING HER TESTIMONY IN WEIGHING THE VERDICT?
- E. DID THE COURT ERR, DESPITE DEFENDANTS BEING HELD IN DEFAULT, AND FAIL TO MAKE ITS OWN, INDEPENDENT JUDICIAL DETERMINATION

OF THE AMOUNT RECOVERABLE BY PLAINTIFF BASED ON THE STANDARD OF PROOF AS REQUIRED BY LAW AND TO CLOSELY SCRUTINIZE THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT TO PREVENT HARSH RESULTS AND DRASTIC ACTION AS REQUIRED BY RENNEY V. DOBBS HOUSE, INC., 275 S.C. 562, 567, 274 S.E.2D 290, 293 (1981)?

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Factual Background

The facts as recited here are primarily taken from the damages hearing where, notably, as discussed below in part II.B, Defendants only had the opportunity to question and cross examine Plaintiff's witnesses, but put up no independent evidence of their own.

Appellants John McCarty and Audrey live in Saluda County and own a small vehicle and trucking escort company known as McCarty Enterprises, LLC. Appellants McCarty's home and their trucking company are on contiguous property in Saluda County. (**Complaint, ¶¶1-5**)

Respondent and her husband are neighbors of Appellants.

This action arises out of the destruction of the Respondent's six plus year old Australian Shepherd ("Australian Shepherd") dog named "Ruby" by Appellant John McCarty **while the animal was trespassing on Appellants' property** on March 25, 2015, and trying to get into the enclosure where Appellants' animals were secured, only two days after two of Appellants McCarty's emus were destroyed by another trespassing animal that was running in a pack with the Australian Shepherd on the day in question. (**Amended Complaint ¶¶7, 9, 11 & 12; Answer; 4/5/19 Tr. p. 29, Ins. 6-10**) At that time, the livestock the McCartys maintained (inside fences on their own property, mind you) included "donkeys, Emus, chickens, rabbits, and other various animals." (**4/5/19 Tr. p. 119, ln. 25**)

Respondent testified that she obtained the Australian Shepherd at issue in 2008 at three (3) months of age from a breeder in North Carolina (**4/5/19 Tr. p. 18, ln. 22 – p. 19, ln. 3**).

Respondent testified from that day forward, “she just followed me. She was so loyal. If I was outside, she was outside. If I was in the house, she was in the house. If I was back in my office working, she was laying right there by my door. If I went on the boat, she went on the boat” (4/5/19 Tr. p. 20, lns. 7-12). However, contrary to this testimony, on the day in question, and many many others, the Australian Shepherd was inexplicably put out in Respondent’s yard, unattended, where she repeatedly escaped the Respondent’s “underground fencing” between June of 2012 and the final date in question on March 25, 2015. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 25, lns. 12-13)

Plaintiff claims that Appellants held a grudge against her since she accidentally ran over their dog, Allie, almost three years earlier, in June of 2012. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 22, lns. 1-12)

Problems with the Australian Shepherd actually dated all the way back to the Fall of 2010, when there was a report by Appellant Audrey McCarty to the Saluda County Sheriff’s Office that the Respondent’s Australian Shepherd was aggressive toward her. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 126, lns. 2-5). As early as December of 2012, Appellant Audrey McCarty reached out to Respondent and advised her they were going to be getting rabbits and chickens and warned Plaintiff to please keep her Australian Shepherd off of the McCartys’ property and away from their livestock or they would have to destroy her if she continued to come into their yard. (4/5/19 p. 24, lns. 7-14)

Initially, Respondent testified that she “respected [the McCartys’] right. I mean, I didn't want Ruby in their yard either and **I agreed they had the right to not have her there** and we put that fence in and it was great for three years and so that's why it was so long before there was, you know, I mean, it was great. I thought everybody was happy, you know. And then, and I don't remember the date, but it was in mid February [2015.] I was out packing my van to go to Tennessee and when I was out front, Audrey and a lady that I didn't know but I since know was someone who was working for her came by on her golf cart and she said, I just have to tell you,

**if Ruby comes in our yard one more time, my husband's gonna shoot her.** And I wasn't surprised. Well, I was surprised.” (4/5/19 Tr. p. 24, ln. 19 – p. 25, ln. 6) (Emphases added) It shouldn't have been a surprise because Respondent admitted she also knew as early as February of 2015, that her Australian Shepherd was escaping the “underground fence” because she “started finding [her] outside of our barrier and I couldn't figure out” how. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 25, lns. 12-13) Also, several years prior, the Respondent's same shepherd attacked one of Appellants' family pets on Appellants' property, causing great injury to the Appellants' pet. At that time, the Saluda County Sheriff's Office warned BOTH Respondent and Appellants that “they needed to keep their dogs on their property and leashed at all times.” They further advised both parties that “they had the right to protect their person and property against attacks on their property.” (Answer, ¶6)(Emphasis added)

Further, Respondent is married to a lawyer (Respondent's Counsel, Frank S. Potts, Esq.) (4/5/19 Tr. p. 37, ln. 3; p. 52, lns. 1-22; p. 132, ln. 17), her son is a tax lawyer (Respondent's Counsel, Evan Lacke, Esq.) (4/5/19 Tr. p. 60, ln. 9), and her daughter (Anna Lacke) (4/5/19 Tr. p. 115, ln. 23-24) is a paralegal to the managing attorney of Nexsen Pruet in Columbia (Leighton Lord, Esq.) (4/5/19 Tr. p. 116, lns. 4-10) – all of whom could have advised her – in addition to the Saluda County Deputy who did - that unleashed dogs roaming about a neighborhood and onto others' property was a clear violation of state law and county ordinance and, further, if said animal threatened a person or another animal that the property owner “had the right to protect their person and property against attacks on their property” by any means necessary. (Answer, ¶6) (Emphasis added)

Later in her testimony, Respondent claimed the date she and Mrs. McCarty had the conversation above was actually March 4<sup>th</sup> or 5<sup>th</sup> in 2015 (4/5/19 Tr. p. 69, lns. 14-25)

Regardless, the conversation occurred after Respondent independently knew that her Australian Shepherd was off leash and leaving her property in violation of State Law (S.C. Code Ann. § 47-3-50) and Saluda County Ordinances. Respondent testified that conversation with Audrey McCarty on whatever day it actually was (February or early March 2015), was a “civil conversation,” not malevolent or malicious. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 26, ln. 24 -p. 27, ln. 1)

At that point, the McCartys had previously warned Plaintiff of the consequences of their Australian Shepherd coming onto their land repeatedly for the past three (3) years – first in December 2012, and again in February (or the first week of March 2015), when Respondent admittedly knew the Australian Shepherd was escaping her enclosure whenever she left her unattended outside, (4/5/19, Tr. p. 25, lns. 4-5 and 12-13), and, again, the day after the emus were killed, but the day before Appellant John McCarty ultimately destroyed the Australian Shepherd on his own property after she attempted to get into his chickens’ enclosure. However, somehow Respondent’s perspective on the McCartys’ “right” not to have her dog in the McCarty’s yard, terrorizing/killing their livestock, had changed and she testified that “Let me say this right first that I am really taken aback by anybody who would shoot a dog. It's not that I think that threatening to shoot a dog is, I think that is horrible.” (4/5/19, Tr. p. 25, lns. 7-9). Despite this, Respondent testified that “my impression was that the McCartys are animal lovers. That was always my impression.” (4/5/19 Tr. p. 75, lns. 7-9)

Respondent then left town for Tennessee with the Australian Shepherd on March 4, 2015 and didn’t return until March 19<sup>th</sup>, 2015. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 69, lns. 52-13) Thereafter, two of the McCarty’s emus were killed by dogs on March 23, 2015, and Audrey McCarty and her employee went to see Respondent on March 24, 2015, and advised her about the emu incident the day before. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 71, lns. 11-22). Appellant Audrey McCarty also allegedly told a neighbor,

“the next dog that trespassed on Defendants’ property would be killed.” (**Amended Complaint**, ¶11) Ultimately, on the morning of March 25, 2015, Mr. McCarty shot the Australian Shepherd on his property (**Id.**; **4/5/19 Tr. p. 67, lns. 18-20**) - both shots clearly occurring on the McCarty’s property - the last one being on the McCarty’s property “on the part of their property closest to [the Potts’] property.” (**4/5/19 Tr. p. 29, lns. 24-25; Tr. p. 128, lns. 11-25**). After hearing the first shot, Respondent even saw other dogs from the destructive pack running away (including the German Shepherd who had been identified destroying the McCarty’s emus two days before). (**4/5/19, Tr. p. 29, lns. 6-10**)

Respondent said when she heard the second shot, she began getting dressed and she got a phone call from another neighbor who told her that the Australian Shepherd has been shot by Appellant John McCarty on his property. Respondent then walked up there to the McCartys’ property. (**4/5/19, Tr., p. 29, lns. 15-25**) After ascertaining her the Australian Shepherd was no longer alive, Respondent called her husband and the Saluda County Sheriff’s Office. (**4/5/19 Tr. p. 30, lns. 1-6**). Respondent first admitted that she told the police to have the McCartys bury the Australian Shepherd (**4/5/19 Tr. p. 63, lns. 1-6**), then said “I don’t remember instructing them to bury the dog, just that we were not, you know, we didn’t instruct them to bury the dog. Just that it was up to them.” (**4/5/19 Tr. p. 63, lns. 23-25**) She then said, “I do know that we declined to go get her to bury her. This may be what was implicit in our doing that, but we did not ... .” (**4/5/19 Tr. p. 65, lns. 6-8**) Finally, she settled on, “He [the Sheriff’s deputy] asked me before Frank got there. He said, what do you want them to do with the dog to me and I said let them, they shot her, let them deal with it and I think I was in kind of the same mind set because I bitterly regretted that later.” (**4/5/19 Tr. p. 73, lns. 20-23**) In any case, Appellants buried the dog on their property and despite this conflict and the litigation, the McCartys have never denied the

Potts or Lackes access to visiting where the Australian Shepherd is buried on the McCartys' property and have even had their grandson escort them out there when they have wanted to visit the gravesite. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 129, lns. 11-15)

Later that evening, Respondent and her daughter went over to the McCartys, burst into the McCartys' business on the property, and began a "tense" confrontation with Appellant Audrey McCarty wherein Anna Lacke cursed at McCarty and she and Respondent both yelled at McCarty (4/5/19 Tr. p. 65, ln. 25 – p. 66, ln. 1; Tr. p. 127, lns. 12-17). Despite this, Appellant Audrey McCarty was not confrontational in response (4/5/19 Tr. p. 127, lns. 18-20) and tried to explain that Appellants had relied upon Saluda County Sheriff's Office deputy's advice who said they were within their rights to destroy the Australian Shepherd who was repeatedly on their property and endangering their livestock "and that they had every right to do that." (4/5/19 Tr. p. 123, lns. 5-8). As the intensity of the verbal attacks of Respondent and her daughter increased, Appellant Audrey McCarty told them she was going to call the police, but, ultimately, did not do so while Lacke and Respondent were there. In response, Respondent quipped they "would be gone before the police arrived." Despite these behaviors, McCarty never pressed any charges against Lacke or Respondent. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 127, ln. 18 - p. 128, ln. 7)

Previously, Respondent lost a son to diabetes in 2002 and had begun counseling for the same in 2006 (4/5/19 Tr. p. 48, lns. 2-9). Respondent sought more counseling in 2014 relating to family strife over a another son's wedding. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 49, ln. 21 – p. 50, ln. 15) Then, after the Australian Shepherd was shot, Respondent then restarted counseling again from April 2015-June 2017 (4/5/19 Tr. p. 34, lns. 4-9; Exhibit 9) Respondent admitted not all her counseling sessions were related to the grief over the Australian Shepherd. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 34, ln. 22 – p. 35, ln. 8) There were other family strife issues also relating to her sisters in 2015 during

the time she sought counseling allegedly for her grief over the Australian Shepherd's destruction. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 51, lns. 2-22) Respondent ultimately alleged that \$2,915 in counseling charges were specifically related to counseling for the death of the Australian Shepherd. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 35, lns. 21-24)

Respondent also claimed that she suffered "business losses" as a result of her inability to run her specialty Christmas ornament business that actually was listed on her joint tax returns as a business solely in her *husband's name*, not hers. Respondent blamed this on the way that TurboTax "worked" despite her son (Mr. Potts' co-counsel in this matter) being a tax lawyer. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 52, lns. 4-22 and p. 60, lns. 9-11) Respondent also admitted, "I know at the time this happened I had already been thinking about retiring and I think that this precipitated that and I thought about it and I discussed this a lot with my counselor." (4/5/19 Tr. p. 40, lns. 16-19) Thereafter, Respondent admitted that the actual net profit for the ornament business in 2013 was only \$459 and only decreased to \$274 in 2015 (4/5/19 Tr. p. 53, lns. 1-19) Then, Respondent sold the business in 2017 for \$48,000.00 (4/5/19 Tr. p. 54, ln. 11 – p. 58, ln. 7), though Respondent doesn't think she and her husband, Mr. Potts, claimed a capital gains that year, but they did consult her tax attorney son (Evan Lacke, Esq.) and stated they "followed his advice about everything to fill up and whatever, fill out. I did it correctly." (4/5/19 Tr. p. 60, lns. 3-11)

It appears that the Court did not award any lost profits from the ornament business in its award of \$7,500.00 in "compensatory damages," though such award is otherwise uncategorized in the Order other than the blanket statement on page 6 of the Order stating, "Plaintiff is entitled to recover a total award of \$7,500 for compensatory damages which include the costs of counseling, the emotional distress and the nominal amount for the dog, Ruby [\$5.00]." (Order of

**7/1/2019 of the Honorable Alison Renee Lee, p. 6).** The \$7,500.00 award was apparently also inclusive of counseling costs of \$2,915.00.

Respondent stated she underwent treatment/counseling until June 2017, but there has been none since, and she was fully released from the Counseling at that time. **(4/5/19 Tr. p. 108, Ins. 14-19)** Further, Respondent takes no medications for any permanent or residual mental health issues. **(4/5/19 Tr. p. 109, Ins. 1-16)** Finally, none of Plaintiff's records entered into evidence denoted any long-term, permanent emotional damage from the shooting incident involving the Australian Shepherd **(4/5/19 Tr. p. 111, Ins. 16-24).**

As such, presumably, the remaining compensatory damages awarded by the Circuit Court were based upon the "expert" testimony of Mary Feaster, LPC, who Respondent offered as an "expert in grief counseling." **(4/5/19 Tr. p. 92, Ins. 14-15).** During the *voir dire* of Ms. Feaster, it was discovered she was only a generically Licensed Professional Counselor (LPC), with her Master's Degree actually in Education and Rehabilitation Counseling **(4/5/19 Tr. p. 93, Ins. 9-11).** She couldn't remember if she actually became an LPC in 1989, as she first testified, or ten years later (in 1999) as her credentialing from LLR reflected. **(4/5/19 Tr. p. 92, ln. 20 – p. 93 ln. 6)** She also could not recall the actual time frame she worked in the psychiatric unit at Palmetto Baptist/Prisma other than "several years" and admittedly never worked exclusively in "grief and loss." **(4/5/19 Tr. p. 97, ln. 3 -p. 98, ln. 10).** Similarly, Feaster had no curriculum vitae (CV) **(4/5/19 Tr. p. 97, Ins. 6-9),** no peer reviewed publications (books or articles), and no other specific education or certifications in the area of pet grief or loss. **(4/5/19 Tr. p. 101, ln. 21 – p. 102, ln. 4)**

Feaster was also not Plaintiff's treating counselor. Rather, Feaster only met Respondent a mere "few weeks" before trial in the Spring of 2019 **(4/5/19 Tr. p. 108, Ins. 5-7),** purportedly

for a total of ten (10) hours during those “few” weeks, and all while Feaster was so purportedly ill/disabled she couldn’t even conduct her regular, unpaid, once a week, hour and a half (1½ hr weekly) group counseling sessions for the *four months* prior to her testimony, due to a wound on her leg subsequent to surgery. (4/5/19 Tr. p. 98, ln. 19 – p. 99, ln. 8). Feaster also purportedly reviewed Respondent’s counseling notes (4/5/19 Tr. p. 108, lns. 8-9), but only from April 2015 forward to June 2017 and not before (4/5/19 Tr. p. 114, lns. 19-25).

Despite the numerous deficiencies in her qualifications to be an expert in this matter, her lack of review of Respondent’s counseling/medical records regarding her 2006 counseling regarding her son (Ross) and the 2014 counseling regarding her other son, the Circuit Court allowed Feaster to provide expert testimony as an “expert in counseling” and that the “counseling she does includes and is related to grief and loss both as it relates to grief and loss related to pets and as to other counseling so ... she's qualified to provide expert testimony as a counselor as it relates to those areas.” (4/5/19 Tr. p. 102, lns. 13-19)

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