THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SALUDA COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge  
Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge  
Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-41-139  
Appellate Case No. 2019-001279

---

Amy Potts .....Respondent

v.

McCarty Enterprises, LLC, John Miles McCarty,  
Audrey S. McCarty, a/k/a/ Audrey J. McCarty,  
and Jane Doe .....Appellants

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Frank S. Potts  
Attorney at Law  
(SC Bar No. 4538)  
137 Stone Ridge Road  
Leesville, SC 29070  
(803) 622-6000  
lakecottage1945@gmail.com

M. Evan Lacke  
Attorney at Law  
(SC Bar No. 74969)

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

## ARGUMENT

### Appellants’ Initial Brief does not Conform to the Rules

Rule 208(b)(1)(C) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure clearly states that “the statement [of the case] shall not contain contested matters...”, but the Appellants’ Statement of the Case in its Brief includes numerous instances of contested matter and facts not in evidence. Simply put, there are too many to individually note.

### *Contested Matters in Appellants’ Statement of the Case*

Appellants’ use of contested matter in the “Factual Background” section of their Statement of the Case, is an attempt to justify the intentional and violent act Appellants committed by shooting the Australian Shepherd, Ruby. These improper assertions of contested matter are no more than a recitation of non-existent facts and

argument, including an abundance of inserted adjectives and adverbs which distort the passages that are cited.

Appellants even present unsworn statements and questions by their own counsel as fact in this case. For instance, at the damages hearing, Appellants' counsel asked witness, Anna Lacke, if she had ever known of Ruby being aggressive to Appellant Audrey McCarty, to which Anna answered "no;" yet, that very exchange becomes the basis for, "the Respondent's Australian Shepherd was aggressive to her [Mrs. McCarty]." (R. p.333, lines 3-6) Some of the more outrageous claims made are cited to the stricken Answer to the Amended Complaint, some are misrepresentations of the material in the record that *is* cited. Some citations are offered that bear no relation to the matter in the brief they supposedly support. Many of the more outrageous statements are not cited to the Record at all.

Respondent would prefer the Appellants' brief be required to conform to the rules, but barring that, will point out what is *not* in the record: There is no evidence of any injured or dead livestock. There is no record of any breached fences or holes dug under fences. There is no evidence that any neighborhood dog ever threatened or harmed or attacked any livestock or any person at any time. There is no record of the Appellants' ever voicing concern to any neighbor that they felt their livestock was at risk because of *any* neighborhood dog.

These defenses would have been subject to argument five years ago after timely responsive pleadings, but since Appellants were placed in default by Judge Newman

the allegations in the Amended Complaint are deemed admitted. Appellants are not at liberty to create facts of their choosing.

If Appellants had timely and properly established a meritorious defense, there would have been no default.

The plain fact, however, is that Appellants *have* been held in default. This means that the Appellants are deemed, as a matter of law, to have both conceded liability and to have admitted all well-plead facts in the Plaintiff's Amended Complaint. There should be no argument about well-plead facts nor liability for the Appellants' killing of Ruby. What is properly at issue is whether the Appellants were properly held in default by Judge Jocelyn Newman and whether the damages verdict by Judge Alison Lee was properly awarded according to law.

All else is a diversion from the purpose of this appeal which is: *Did any of the judges involved in this case commit error warranting reversal of their decisions?* Respondent contends and will argue that they did not, and, further, that each judge involved made careful, sound and lawful decisions. The full transcript of each proceeding before each judge is included in our record as they speak to the truth of what was said or done in this case at each of the hearings.

Other than pointing out that fallacious statements permeate Appellants' brief, Respondents will not attempt to rebut these assertions – they are out of place and not germane to this appeal.

The same reasoning applies to Judge Lee's damages hearing. What was admissible were the well-plead facts of the Amended Complaint, witness testimony,

evidence, and the cross-examination—nothing else. The Respondent will not, therefore, attempt to argue anything but the issues before this court leaving the Appellants to do what they will—as they have done before and throughout this case.

## The Motion to Dismiss Was Correctly Decided

### *Standard of Review*

On appeal of the grant or denial of a motion to dismiss for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the circuit court. *Benedict College v. National Credit Systems, Inc.*, 400 S.C. 538, 735 S.E.2d 518 (Ct.App. 2012)

### *Applicable Law*

A motion to dismiss is governed by Rule 12(b)(6) SCRPC and “the circuit court must base its ruling solely upon allegations set forth on the face of the complaint.” *Charleston County School District v. Harrell*, 393 S.C. 552, 557, 713 S.E.2d 604, 607 (2011). “The motion may not be sustained if the facts alleged in the complaint and the inferences drawn therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to relief under any theory. Pleadings in a case should be construed liberally and the court must presume all well-pled facts to be true so that substantial justice is done between the parties.” *Id.*

## *Discussion*

This motion was heard prior to Respondent's Motion for Default. At issue before Judge Newman was an amended motion to dismiss by the Appellants, and motions for default, to strike and to compel by Respondent.

The Appellants' Motion to Dismiss and the Appellants' Answer to the Amended Complaint were both served together—late. Although filed too late to act as a responsive pleading to prevent Appellants' default, the Clerk of Court had filed the Answer and Appellants' Motion to Dismiss (Rule 12(b)(6)) and the motion was on the court's roster to be heard prior to the filing of Respondent's motions. At the suggestion of counsel for the Respondent, and without objection by opposing counsel, the first motion heard was Appellants' amended motion to dismiss. (R. pp.166-167 and pp.133-134)

If, by chance, the Motion for Default had been heard first, the Motion to Dismiss would have been moot by virtue of the Appellants' default. (R. p.204, lines 6-12) Thus, since it was first on the schedule, the Motion to Dismiss was heard first prior to the Motion for Default and as a result, the Motion to Dismiss was heard on its merits.

Having been heard on the merits, if the Motion to Dismiss had been granted, an issue might have been raised with respect to the validity of the Amended Complaint and its ability to sustain an award of damages. However, that never happened because the Motion to Dismiss was unsound, was dealt with by the court

on the merits, and as a result, the Motion to Dismiss had no further effect or impact upon the suit.

In this appeal the Appellants reargue the three contentions heard by the lower court, and one new contention Appellants have not previously raised. Respondent will also propose an additional sustaining ground.

### *First Basis – Civil Conspiracy*

The first ground argued by Appellants was that the Appellants were all employees of the defendant corporation. This issue was disposed of by the court in its first ruling that the individual Appellants were being sued *as* individuals, not corporate agents, in the Amended Complaint. (R. p.174, line 10 – p.175, line 21)

### *Second Basis - Killing of an Identifiable Dog*

Appellant counsel argued that the Appellant's killing of Respondent's dog is not an actionable matter. She maintained that the Appellants cannot be held civilly liable for the killing of Plaintiff's dog because of Section 47-3-530 of the *South Carolina Code of Laws, Annotated*, which she contends lawfully permits the killing of a dog that is "threatening to cause or causing personal injury or property damage." If such were the case, the burden would have been upon the Appellants to provide evidence of the same as a defense – which they did not.

In fact, the cited code specifies that the killing of an identifiable trespassing animal is a criminal offense. That the Respondent's dog, Ruby, was trespassing and was also identifiable by Appellants, and that Appellant John McCarty killed Ruby is admitted. The behavior of the dog, which Appellants want to allege justified her killing, is contested as was recognized by the court:

THE COURT: Well, several things. And I'll start at the very last. It sounds to me and I don't -- I don't know that that's admitted and maybe I've just not seen it in the complaint but if the Plaintiff does not admit that this animal was threatening to cause or causing personal injury or property damage you would be asking me to make a finding of fact that that was in fact the case. And I'm not in a position to do that. (R. pp.173-174)

The statute is entitled "Penalties for stealing or killing identifiable dog" and states: "Any person killing any dog when owner may be identified by means of a collar bearing sufficient information or some other form of positive identification is guilty of a misdemeanor." The statute does excuse the same if the criminal defendant can establish that it was "the killing of a dog threatening to cause or causing personal injury or property damage." But, as the lower court correctly pointed out, no such cause was alleged in the Amended Complaint.

For the purposes of this action, whether or not the admitted shooter, Appellant John McCarty, violated a criminal statute is not an issue. In *Ott v. Pittman*, 320 S.C. 72, 463 S.E.2d 101 (Ct.App. 1995), Mr Pittman was charged with shooting Mr. Ott's dogs and killing one. He was criminally tried and acquitted. However, the criminal

trial and acquittal did not preclude Mr. Ott from bringing a civil action against Mr. Pittman and recovering judgment against him in the amount of \$19,800. *Id.* (See also R. pp.173-174)

### ***Third Basis - Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress***

The Appellants correctly argued that the law limits a claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress to egregious conduct toward a plaintiff proximately caused by a defendant. Appellants stated that it was not enough that the conduct is intentional and outrageous, but that it would have had to have been directed at the Respondent, and the Respondent would have had to allege that it had been done intentionally to cause her emotional distress. (R. p.12, lines 6-18)

At this point Respondent counsel referenced paragraphs 15, 16, and 19, from the Complaint to Judge Newman, including this allegation:

15. With the participation of the three defendants named and the corporate defendant, an understanding was reached between the defendants to facilitate the killing of the plaintiff's dog at the earliest opportunity in order to intentionally inflict severe emotional distress on the plaintiff for the loss of her beloved pet "Ruby." (R. p.43, ¶15)

To which Judge Newman responded:

THE COURT: Right. It's right there in paragraph 15. And, you know, as to whether it's egregious or not, again, I'm not in a position to make a finding of fact at this point that it was not egregious, certainly not on a motion to dismiss. So

unfortunately, I'm going to have to deny your motion to dismiss on all grounds. (R. p.176, line 24 – p.177, line 6)

#### ***Fourth Basis – Appellants Could Not Have Committed Conspiracy***

The Appellants have added a fourth basis which was not argued to the court. In their brief, the Appellants now contend that “Appellants committed NO illegal acts, and, thus, could not have committed conspiracy.” (Brief of Appellants at p.27) Since this argument was not raised before the lower court, the issue should not be considered in this appeal. “Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by a lower court,” *Elam v. S.C. Dept. of Transportation*, 361 S.C. 9,23,602 S.E. 2d 772, 779-80 (2004).

Respondents contend there was no error by the court in its ruling on the merits of the (late-filed) Motion to Dismiss.

#### **On Hearing the Motion to Dismiss First**

The Appellants contend that the fact that the court first heard the Motion to Dismiss and denied the same (on the merits), this fact precluded the subsequent default because it should have given the Appellants another 15 days to file an Answer to the Amended Complaint (the one that was found in default). Even if this argument had merit, which it does not, the defendants did not raise this issue to the

court so as to permit a ruling. Nor was this issue raised by the Appellants' motion for reconsideration. Nor was it even raised in the previous appeal of the default before this court. This is the first time this alleged error has raised its head. This issue was neither presented to nor ruled upon by the trial judge and is not preserved for the court's review. As the court has said, "It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved." *See generally 565 Holy Loch Distribs., Inc. v. Hitchcock*, 340 S.C. 20, 531 S.E.2d 282 (2000); *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 529 S.E.2d 543 (2000).

### Additional Sustaining Ground

While the Motion to Dismiss was denied on the merits prior to the default motion being heard, based on the evidence presented that both the Answer and the Motion to Dismiss were served and filed together—the Motion to Dismiss was also in default having violated Judge Keesley's order. For that reason the Motion to Dismiss should not have been considered and even if reviewed for any merit, it should have been dismissed on both grounds—not just on the merits. As a result, the Motion to Dismiss arguments should not be heard for the reason that subsequent proof also established that the Motion to Dismiss was not filed or served in a timely manner so as to be heard on the merits—despite its lack of merit. The transcript makes clear that Judge Newman, if she had not dismissed the motion on the merits, would have dismissed it for also being in default. (R. p.204, lines 6-10)

## The Motion for Default was Properly Granted

### *Standard of Review*

The decision whether to set aside an entry of default or a default judgment lies solely within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Roberson v. Southern Finance of South Carolina, Inc.*, 365 S.C. 6, 9, 615 S.E.2d 112, 114 (2005). The trial court's decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion. *Id.*

### *Discussion*

On April 28, 2016, Judge Keesley issued his order regarding the Respondents motion to hold the defendants in default for their failure to respond to both the Amended Complaint and to respond to discovery. The ruling was clear and unequivocal. The court decided that it would not hold the Appellants in default but would provide a second opportunity for them to timely respond to the Amended Complaint. The order of the court specifically provided that the Defendants had to do two things regarding the Amended Complaint. The Defendants had to *both* file *and* serve their responsive pleading(s) by a specific date.

The court's precise words were as follows:

They [the Defendants] have 15 days from the day this order is mailed to the defense attorney by the Clerk of Court in which to file and serve their responsive pleading.” (R. pp.3-4)

The order concluded with:

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED that the motion to declare the defendants to be in default is denied and the defendants must file and serve a responsive pleading or motion within the time frame provided above.” (the court’s signature followed) (R. p.7)

### *The “Mailing”*

#### *The Deadlines*

According to Judge Keesley’s order and its date of mailing, the deadline for filing and serving responsive pleadings was May 26, 2016. (R. pp.3-4)

Appellants’ responsive pleadings were filed, by hand, on May 31<sup>st</sup>, five days after the court’s deadline had passed in violation of the explicit order of the court. (R. p.108) That the filing deadline was missed by five days is not disputed. (R. pp.90-91)

#### *The Mailing “Problem”*

Throughout this case, Appellant has repeatedly relied upon the excuse there is an overriding problem with mail flowing through the Easley Post Office.

During the first default hearing in April of 2016, Appellants, in an attempt to avoid being placed in default, told Judge Keesley:

I can assure the Court that from here forward, I will use a different method other than U.S. Mail to make sure that these are properly delivered to both Mr. Potts and the Court because

apparently there is a problem.... (R. p.155, line 22 – p. 156, line 1)<sup>15</sup>

Appellant, again, in a memorandum in September:

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